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2 . UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
' FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA'

'UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ex rel

~ DENNIS MONTGOMERY, an individual

- Plaintiffs,
V. '

) C

)

)

)

)

)

. )
WARREN TREPP, an individual; U.S. )
CONGRESSMAN JAMES GIBBONS, an ;
individual; eTREPPID TECHNOLOGIES, |
LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, )
GENERAL RONALD BATH, an individual; )
ASCENTIA CAPITAL PARTNERS, LLC, a )
- Nevada limited liability company; SLOAN g
VENABLES, an individual, PATTY GRAY )
an individual; PAUL HARALDSEN. an © - )
~ individual; MICHAEL WEST, an mdmdual )
and DOES 1 through 20, )
: Defendants )

>

ASE NO.: 3-00 -CV- (ﬂ\ *‘”

COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION OF THE FALSE
CLAIMS ACT 31 U.S.C. §3129, ET SEQ., AND
CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE THE FALSE
CLAIMS ACT

Pursuant To 31 U. S C. § 3730 ()Y(2), F nled
IN CAMERA, Under Seal
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: \MTURE OF THE CASE

I Thts False Clanms Act case anses outof defendant Waxren Trepp’s scheme to commtt fraud-
on the plamttff Umted States Government through government defense contracts, and to gam control and
ownership of valuable software exclusively owned controlled and solely possessed by relator Dennis

Montgomery used on satd contracts In sum, Trepp s scheme to defraud the Govemment was part and

parcel of his scheme to detraud Montg,omery : -\/lontgomery s software is. valued in th'e hundreds of
. millions of dollars and is critical to the war on terror In order to perpetrate his scheme, detendant Trepp

_ pald hundreds, of thousands of dollars to defendant United Stafes Conaressman James Gibbons for the-_ :

'purpose of: (1) procurmg numerous mlhtary contracts requlnng the use of \/Iontgornery s software, and (u)

K tor the. corrupt mampulatton of the _]llSthC system by both Glbbons and Nevada U.S. Attomev Daniel

" Bogden. Glbbons was, mstrumental in secunng Bogden hts jobasU. S. Attorney, through lus substanttal.

1nﬂuence w1th1n the Nevada Repubhcan Party.

‘ 2. Atthe behest of Trepp and thbons Bogden dtrected and authonzed the Reno office of the
FBI to conduct a patently tllegal and unconstttuttonal ratd on Montgomery s home and storage tacility for
the purpose ‘of seizing, in effect, “steahng,” the “source codes” to Montgomerv s soﬁware and also to
prevent Montgomery from blowing the whistle on Trepp, thbons, and-other tederal officials mvolved with |
them. ' - - ' o | |

: 3 " One of these oﬂicmls is defendant U.S. Air Force specxal agent Paul Haraldsen who had

I worked with ‘\/Iontgorncry onseveral of the contracts, and represented to \/Iontgomery that he, (Haraldsen) .

‘had become the desrgnated Government hatson to Montgomery replacmg other mdtvrduals trorn__

“and. other US Agencies. Based on Haraldsen s statements, Montgomery believed that Haraldsen was

_ workmg for USSOCOM (Umted States Specml Opera’nons Command) w1th drrect access to Secretary of -

Defense Rumsfeld and other hlgh level Defense Department ofﬁcrals ‘Between early 2004 and January,

- 2006, Haraldsen had developed a conﬁdentlal working relatlonslup with \/Iontgomerv had gained

- Montgomery’s trust. and knew the mtmense value of the software V[ontgomery was unaware of

5.

R R ]

' Haraldsen s colluswe schemmg with Trepp and Gibbons, and ofhls dtrect connectxon to Air F orce General o

" Montgomery FC.X Compluint .
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.

. Ronald Bath until after the raid on his home

4. General Ronald Bath, who worked ‘with Trepp and Grbbons in the procurement of mlhtary

 contracts, was also mstrumental in usmg Haraldsen to fabncate and falsxfy evidence on behalf of Bogden
i in order-to COI'ldLl(.t the raid on Montgomery’ s home and storage facxlrty All of the detendants and co-
'consptrators named herein as defendants and not named as defendants, conspired and worked together to

engmeer the raid on \/Iontgomery s home and. storage umts in order to keep the plaintiff U, S. Government B

' defense contracts flowing to defendant Trepp.

5. . Numerous oﬁtcmls in - andother U.S. Government agencies knew that the software

- was encluswely developed owned controlled possessed and operated by \/lontoomerv alone and that.

\«Iontvomery zealously and aggressrvely protected the secrecy ofhis source codes trom everyone, 1ncludmcr

Trepp,” multlple Government “consultants” who sought to reverse engineer the source codes, and ﬁ'om )

agents employees and consultants hired by Trepp to-either gain access to the source codes and or to reverse
engmeer them
6.  :Between September 28 1998 and January 18, 2006 ‘\/Iontgomerv was an mdependent

contractor at eTrepptd Technologles The “source codes” used on certain mllttarv contracts were never on

the premises of eTreppld Technologtes o .
7. - Atthetimeofthe raids on March l dnd3, 2006, defendants Trepp, Gibbons Haraldsen Bath

I and Bogden knew the followmg matenal facts: (1) Trepp had vwlated cernﬁcatton provisions of plamttft
- L S. Government defense contracts tncludmg 1llegal payments to thbons and that. Montoomerv posed
3 threat to “blow the whistle” on all ot them (if) Montgomery had always mamtamed complete control
and e‘ccluswe possessron of the © source codes” to the soﬁware and he exclustvelv owned them based on

" his wmten comracts with Trepp Haraldsen had possesswn of said contracts prior to the rznd (m) there

weré no means to secure ‘possession of the “source oodes" other than by rardmg \/Iontgomerv s home (iv)

: Jl.lbt pnor to the tllegal raid, Trepp needed the “soirce codes” to fulﬁll a mthtary contract recently procured‘

by Gibbons, Haraldsen and Bath havmg a value of at least one—hundred million dollars, and more likely

- having a negotiated value up to hve-hundred million d‘ollars.— this contract was absolutely essential to the f'

Montgomery, FC.A Complaint
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continuation of prior contracts involving the collection "forecasting,” an_ }

involving the war on terror (v) Montgomery rmght have copies of Trepp s personal computer. hard-dnves

revealing, inter alia, cash payments to Glbbons and insider tradmg bv Trepp based on mtorrnatxon derlved_-
from plaintiff U.S. Government detense contracts and the use of Montgomery s sot‘rware in the war on
terror and, most significantly, (v1) Montgomery, in February of 7006, Jjust before the 1llegal raids, was then

in conta«.t wrth several tormer ofﬁc1als above Gibbons, Haraldsen, and Bath for the purpose of not onlv

4 olowmg the whistle on Trepp, Glbbons and Bath, but also for the purpose of having the Govemment use ..
Montgomery’s software in the war-on terror in order to save Atmeru.zm lives, and thus cuttme off Trepp's

defense contracts.

8 Wlthm a month betore the 111egal ralds, (and on prev1ous Occaswnb), \ronteornery.
speuﬁcally mformed detendant Special Agent Haraldsen that Trepp had paid hundreds of thousands of |

dollars to GlbeI‘lS, and that Montgomery ] representatlves had contacted several former hlgh level

Govemment ofﬁcmls intending to immediately license his technology to the’ U S. Govermnent in order to o

protect our country. On or about February 6, 2006 unaware of Haraldsen's collusion w1th Trepp Bogden -

" and ‘Bath, Montgomery exphcttly requested Haraldsen s help in getting \/lontwomery s software )

rmmednate[y avarlable to the U S. Govemment for it’s use in the war on terror.

9 .. On March [ 006 when the FBI raxded Montgomery’s home his representatnes '

: 1mmed1atelv faxed a letter, attached hereto as Exlnblt 1, to Rumsfeld and other hlgh level Bush .

Admuustratxon officials, thh copnes to several former officials, offermg the technology to the Government

mforrnmg them of Trepp’s background and payments to' Gibbons, and requestmg their. mtervenhon to

I “protect the Country and sateguard the technology for the war on ten'or

~10.".  In February, 2006, Haraldsen had secretly and xllegallv tape recorded at least several' E
conversations: with V[ontgomery while lying to Montgomery and denymg that he was tapmg their

conversatrons, after Montoomery had exphcxtly asked h1m In at Jeast t/zree conversanons \/lontgomerv

spec1ﬁcallv mtormed Haraldsen that hlS representattves had contacted former high level Govemmcnt |

Il officials for the purpose ot havmg them contact high level oﬁicxals within the Bush Atdmlmstratlon and

Montgomery FC.A Complaint
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1 inform thern that Montaomery had sole possessmn of the technology and would make it xmmedmtely .

"avallable to the U. S Government in the war on terror.

[}

3 11. . InFebruarv 2006, Montgomery also >pe01ﬁcally informed Haraldsen that he mtended to
4' blvow the whistle on Trepp to high 1eyel Government ofﬁcmls_ with regard to prior cash pnyments by '.l'repp' ‘
‘ 5| to Gibbons; and of Trepp‘s “insider'trading" based on naticnal defenee information obtained from various
6 contracts. When Haraldsen su,gested that Montgomery should *just sn ngh " or words to that affect, untll ‘
7 -;the one hundred mllhon dollar contract was paid by the Air Force, Montgomery began to question
' g | Haraldsen's rnotwes nnd nlleglnnces to protect the. Country._ At that time, in late Eebruary. 200o, realizing
9 that Montgoméry was beginning to distrust hhn, Haraldsen decided w1th Bath and Bodden to raid 1

e \Aontgomerv s home Using the knowledge denv ed from his conversatxons with Montgomery, defendant
10 £

1 SA Haraldsen 1nformed Bath, Trepp, Gibbons and Bogden of Montgomery’s efforts to contact hlgh level
. 12 govemment officials to get the software operatlve in the war on terror and to blow the whistle on Trepp,

' 5l Bath and Gibbons.

14 R =3 Atall tlmes relevant herein, defendant Haraldsen acted as the conduxt ot 1nformatxon and .

is il os the agent of 'I'repp, Bath Bogden and thbons and not for the ‘legitimate interests of the LI S |
" 16 } . Government. While Montgomery was processmg “output”— several ot its field operanves,
17 | warned hun not to trust anyone m51de the Govemment with connecnons to Trepp, mcludmg Bath and
18 thbons and pamcularly, Paul Haraldsen In turn, Hara.ldsen told Montgomery not to trust anyone from
19 I _ and only to trust h1m Throughout "004 when Montgomery was “torecastmg” spemﬁc-
. _ Haraldsen contmuously and aggressively sought hlS compamonshxp and .
fnendshxp whﬂe constantly questioning him about how hls software technology was- func.txomng
» '13; . Inthe summer of 7004 Haraldsen mtormed Montgomerv (i) that there was a “conflict” |
inside the Government and that the Air Force would be “takmg over” the cntxcal eontrncts h'om-
a4 & the end of 7004 (if) \'{ontgomery would be dehvenng his “output” to Haraldsen (m) Vlontgomerv was
Y 10 confide m Haraldsen alone; and (iv) not to trust anyone' but him. At various tnme during 7005,'
26 | Montgomery repeatedly mformed Haraldsen that he dld not trust Trepp, that he was mcreasm21y concerned
27 Trepp was t;ymg to “steal” the, technology, that Trepp was glvmg money to lebons, that Trepp.;g)wed-

9 v FCA Complai
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Montgomery millions of dollars, that he did not"tr.ust.(.'xeneral Bath because Trepp had told him that Bath
was soon to become a “consultant” for 't‘repp upon ret.irement, and that Trepp was using the “intelligence”
Montgomery was then “forecasting’” to trade in oil stocks. Haraldsen repeatedlytreassure‘d‘Montgomery that
as long ashe “processed” the “‘output,” the Government would buy the technology, that funds for acontract
for at least one hundred mtlhon dollars had alreadybeen allocated, and that the Govemment acknowledged
Montgomery's exclusive ownership of the soﬁware

14, Collectively, Trepp, Haraldsen, Bath, and Glbbons schemed with Nevada U.S. Attorney. -
Bogden to manufacture and fabricate grounds to raid Montgomery’s hom_e and seize the so&ware, while
kndwing they had no constitutional basis to do so. Collectively, U.S. Attorney Bogden; the local Reno
FBI, including defendant 'Special ‘Agent Michael West, and‘ defendants Trepp, Bath. Gibbons, and
Haraldsen manufactured, fabricated, and falsified facts in the search affidavit of Agent West in order'to |
obtain search warrants to conduct the raid. Collectively, the defendants pernetrated their scheme to
contmue the plaintiff U.S. Govemment defense contracts then in existence, and to consummate the contract
then having a value between one-hundred million and ﬁve-hundred million dollars

P -\RTIES

15.  Plaintiff Lmted States of America by and through relator Dennis ‘v{ontaomery, who is a
re51dent of the State of Washmgton ‘ ‘

16.  Defendant Warren Trepp is, upon 1nformatton and belief, a resident of Nevada, and the
majority'shareholdet'of eTreppid Technologtes, LLC and is its pr_eSIdent. At all times relevant herein,
Trepp was acting as a principle and agent of defendant ¢Treppid Technologies, LLC.

| 17. - Defendant eTreppld Technolog:es, LLCi is a Nevada limited hablhty companv with a usual

place ot'business in Reno, Nevada.

18. Defendant James Gibbons. is, upon mtormatton and beliet, a re31dent of Nevada, and a-

United States Congressman tor \Ievada

. 19. Detendant Paul Haraldsen is, upon mtormanon and behef a re51dent of Virginia, and is a

- special-agent with U.S. Adr Force.

~20.  Defendant Ronald Bath, is upon information and belief, a resident of Reno, and is a General

6 N
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in the U.S. Air Force. _
- 21, Defendant Ascentia Capital Partners, LLC is, upon information and belief, a Reno
investment tum, whose enterpnse consists partly of domestic and, oﬁ‘shore hedge funds.

22, Defendant Sloan Venables is, upon information and belief, a res1dent of Nevada and

'employed as a security guard at eTreppid Technolozies LLC in Reno, Nevada.

23.  Defendant Patty Gray is, upon information and belief, a resident of Nevada and was

" emploved as an administrative clerk at eTreppid-Technologies,,LLC in Reno.

24, Defendant Michael West, is, upon information and belief, aresident of Nevada and a special
agent with the Reno FBIL. -

25, ‘Defendants DOES 1 Ithrough 20 inclusive are sued herein under fictitious names. Their true

{| names and capacities are not known at this time, but the prayer is made that the same may be inserted herein

when ascertained. Plaintiffis informed and believes and therefore alleges each ofthe defendants designated
herem as a DOE is respon51ble in some manner for the events and happenings herein referred to, and
prommately caused the da.mage to the  plaintiff as herein alleged.

26. ' Atall times relevant each of the defendants acted as the agent for each other defendant in
domg the acts complmned of herein. Plaintiff is mtormed and beheves and thereon alleges at all times

herein mennoned each of the defendants acted as the agent, employee, partner, Jomt venturer. and\or co-

_ eonSpirator with each of the remaining defendants and in domg the things heremafter alleged was acting

within the course and scope of such agency, employment partnership, and/or Jomt venture, and/or in

turtherance of such conspiracy, and with penmssmn of each co-defendant.

. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

27 Atall times relevant, the pnmary acts complamed of occurred in the state of Nevada.

2&., This Court has Junsdlction over the subject matter of tlus action pursuant to 28 U.S. C N
1331 and § 1345. Moreover, this action is not barred by any provision of 31 U.S.C. § a7.>0(e)(l) (4).

29..  Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b). 28 U.S.C. §1391(c); and 28 U.S.C. |
§1391(e), in that, among .otlier reasons, all of the defendants reside in t\.fpvmln ora substantial part of the

events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in Nevada

7 Montgomery FCA Complaint
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FACTUAL -\LL EG ATIONS

' 30. eTreppid Technologtes LLC is a government contractor that had contracts with the Umted .
States Department of Detense. (heremafter ‘DoD™).

31. At all times relevant, qui tam plaintiff Dennis Montgomery was a part owner and

tndependent‘contractor for defendant eTreppid Technologies, LLC. Qui tam plaintiff Montéomerv is an

-original source of mtormatton referred to in this complaint. On February 14, 2004, qm tam plaintiff

- Montgomery was Q.ranted a Top Secret clearance with the U.S. Governmient.

- 32, OnSeptember 28, 1998, Montgomery and Trepp co—founded Intrepptd Technoloqxes later
ealled eTreppid Technologies, LLC ‘based on a “Contribution Agreement” of that date m which

~ Montgomery and Trepp agreed to own the LLC in equal 50% shares.

33. Pursuant to the antribution Agreement, Trepp put up money arld Mdntgomery conveyed
only his “software compression technology™ contained orx “CD No. 1" to eTreppid.

34.  eTreppid’s business .ptan and the épplication of the “compression technology” was to
compress VHS video tapes used for surveillance in easinos. Over the preceding twenty years Montgomery

had developed and copyrighted other types of softWare technology, including but not limited td “‘Object

Detection Sottware -which was not conveyed to eTrepptd and which, per the terms ot the “C omnbunon

Agreement,” was expressly excluded.

-

35. Aﬁer the formatton of eTrepptd Montgomery offered to sell one part of his “Object' '

. Detection System™ (“ODS") soﬁware to Trepp for the sum of five rmlhon dollars and another part for the

additional sum of five million dollars, wl-uch Trepp rejected.

36.  Prior to November of 2002, Montgomery had disclosed and discussed the potentxal military

'apphcatton of his ODS technologies with various rmlttary officials. Begmmng on or about November

2002, on behalf of the U.S. Air Force, Montoomery began work on military appltcatton of hls tet.hnoloqv '

at Eglin Air Force base to demonstrate the application of hlS technolomes in the war on terror. Trepp |
initially expressed reluctance to have eTrepptd involved with the Government because ot'I‘repp s past with
Michael Milken. but soon changed his mind when he started to comprebend the value ot the technology.
Trepp knew the ODS technologtes used in the mlhtary contracts were not his or eTreppid’s because Trepp

8 “
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and Montgomew had _disenssed the ODS’-technologies,' it was expressly excluded from‘ the Contribution
Agreement, and Trenp ag'reed_Montgomery would be paid a licenise fee equal to at least 50% of the gross
-amount paid on any ‘miliarv contract, ‘
37. TheUsS. ‘Atr Force entered into its. first contract with eTrepprd in \Iovember of 7002 _
‘Contract \Io 709 3453 based on Montgomery s technology. -the Air Force, \Javy, and other U.s.
i agenc1es have tested approved and utilized the technology in the war on terror while knowing that only- _.
. Muutsome'y knows the source codes tnat malce the software functional. :
S 38. When ‘l‘repp comprehended the magnitude of the value of the ODS partlcularlv to the U.S.

Government he began to consptre and plan how to steal it from Montgomery.

Tre

s Backoround Barred Him From_ Being A Government Cont-ractor
-' 39. Defendant Warren Trepp has hved off stolen money for much of his adult hte Trepp s
rnodus operand1 has mvolved fmancral schemes and-scams, partxcularly when he was Michael Mxlken s.
Head Trader at Drexel Bumham Lambert in the Junk bond crime wave ot the 19805 in whtch Mxlken, g
Trepp, Ivan Boesky and others stole btllxons of dollars in the Iargest financial crime wave in U.S. history.
‘ Although Milken paid approxxmately $1.1 btlllon dollars in ﬁnes, and Trepp pard tens of millions in civil
"'penaltres upon mformatton and behet addmonal bllhons of dollars had been transferred to off-shore
ac.counts and have never been accounted for. | _ ' |
. '40_, At the infamous X-shaped tradmg desk, Trepp was the “head trader" for and 'sat to the
rmmed:ate nght of Junk Bond King M1chael Milken while Mllken was stealmg btlhons of dollars from -

innocent mvestors A Securities and Exchange Commrssmn Judge said Trepp 5 vrolanons were egregmus,
recumng, and mtenhonal As Drexel’s head trader, he facilitated the sale and repurchase of numerous
lbonds over 4 seven-mionth period, knowmg that the combined transactrons amounted to a covert .
agreement.” At the time, in the 19805, Mllken was paymg Trepp at least $25 million dollars a year to make .

' stock trades. '
41, AL all times relevant herein, all defendants and co-consptrators including Congressman
James GlbeﬂS U S. -\ttomev Daniel Bogden, Specral Agent Paul Haraldsen General Ronald Bath, Trepp |
emplovees Stoan Venables and Pattv Grav and Spectal Agent Michael West, were all aware of Trepp s

9
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baekground as the head trader for Michael Milken, and of his mvolvernent in one of the largest i mvestor

. scams-in this country. More spemﬁcally, all detendants knew that Trepphad a nanonal reputation utterly

lacking in the “reputation for integrity” requlred by law as a U S Goyernment contractor, partxcularlv in

connection with the Govemment contracts specnﬁed herein mvolvmg extremelv sensitive national defense -

{l information v1ta1 to the current national security of the U.S.-

42, I-‘or the toregomg reason and others, begmnmg in early 2004, t1eld operatlves ot-_

' who knew Anh t on l / v‘omgomery had exc1usxveiy developed. owned and possessed the soﬁware warned
' \/Iontoomery to ‘be extremely cautious of any Government officials thh close ties to Trepp, including
- General Bath and J ames thbons In early 7004 because of Special Agent Haraldsen s then—developmo _
1 relattonshlp thh Montgomery, aggressively pursued by Haraldsen, the same- personnel warned A
' Montgomery to be pamcularly careful of Haraldsen On the other hand Haraldsen repeatedly warned
o Montgomerv not to trust- that they xmght attempt to just seize his technology, (as had prekusly :
_been suggested resultmg ina written agreement notto do so) and that because of a “conﬂxct" the AirForce
would be taking over the contracts at the end of 7004 Ultnnately, begmmng in J annary, 2005, only

- Haraldsen remained as the liaison between Montgomery and the Govemment

43.7  -Because ot their afﬁhanon w1th the Air Force spectﬁcally 1nvolvmg the' rmhtary contracts
with eTrepptd J ames Glbbons, U.S. Attorney Daniel Bogden Specxal Agent Paul Haraldsen and Generalf

Ronald Bath all possessed 1ns1de knowledge of the immense value of 2 ’vIontgomery s technology to the -

‘Tregp’s- Pavments To Glbbonr -

~44. . In or about Seéptember 2003, one of Trepp’s employees or consultants, Lennard Glogauer |

: contacted Glogauer s personal friend, detendant U.s. Congressman James Grbbons on behalf ot Trepp.
| -zmd on September 21, 2003, at the home of a mutual friend, mn'odueed Trepp.to Grbbons for the purpose :

4 of obtmmng Gibbons’ help with obtatmng plaintiff U.s. Govemment defense contracts. -

45, After Mllken was released from pnson he sertled in Inclme Vlllage Nevada. as did Trepp,

! where they were proj jected as wealthy phﬂanthroplsts and protected by a community that benehtted trom‘

their junk bond money. Eventually, Trepp encouraged and did get. Mllken to invest in eTt‘epp1d |

10 . o Y v ¥CA Complai



v
—

- Case 3:06-cv-00691-PMP-VPC Document 2 Filed L2/14/06 " Page 11 of 36

Technologies, even thoogh Milken was a convicted felon and eTreppid was entering into and did enter into

, plamui‘f U.S. Government defense contracts involving classified or confidential mtormatxon

46. Desptte Trepp’s well-pubhmzed reputation and history as a financial scam artlst defendant
U.S. Congressman Gibbons told The Wall Street Journal that Trepp would “ne»er pay otf Gibbons in

exchange for U.S. Government contracts, that Trepp was his close personal friend and “like a younger

brother,” even though they had only met in September of 2003 for the express purpose ot procuring rrlil_itary

contracts with Plaintiff DoD. _

47. . In April of 2004, Trepp and e”l'reppid paid for a lavish cruise for Gibbon's wife.

48.  On March 3, 2005 Ciboons succeeded in getting plaintiff U.S. Government to enter into .
contract number LLH-846- 03 called the “Eaglevmon pro;ect " for $1, 170 543.17 with eTreppld

49. On the mormng of March 22,2005, Jale Trepp, Trepp’s most recent wife, said in an e-mail
sent only to Trepp: T o .

“I know you are busy Please don’t forget to bnng the money you pronused Jim [bebons]

and Dawn on the trlp '

50:  Later that same morning, in response to his wife’s e-mail, Trepp said:

“Don t you ever send this kind of message to me! Erase this message from your computer. '

now'”

51.. F rom March 24,2005 to April 2, ..005 defendants Trepp and e'I‘reppld pald fora prwate
jet flight and lavish cruise costmg more than 560 000 for defendant Congressman Gibbons and his family.
Although federal ethics rules requlre a public disclosure by members of Congress when they receive g1ﬁs
ormake rexmbursements Gibbons never reported h1s lavish famﬂy tnp/vacatlon that was paid for by Trepp,
until Glbbons was etposed on the front page of T, he Wall Street Journal on \ovember I, 2006.

52. On August 30, 005 through nine different companies. all owned and controlled bv
defendant Trepp, Trepp dlrectly contributed almost $100,000 in reported carnpalgn contributions to
detendant Congressman Glbbons o |

53.  In April, 2005, upon information and belief,b deferrdant Trepp also paid ‘large sums of
urlreported secret slush fund money to defendant Congressman‘ Gibbons, including, but not limited to,

1]
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' aoproximately $100,000 in casino chips in April 2003, énd $15,000 in cash. In November 2005, while
_Gibbons was mnniog for Governor of Nevada, Trepp gave Gibbons another $100,000 in cash. ,

54.  Atleast from the summer 0£ 2004, defendant Trepp’s agenda, goal, and plan has been to buy
_ defendant Coﬁ-gressman Gibbons the Nevada governorship, buy Gibbono influence in securing defense
| contracts withAplaintiff U.S. Government, get Gibbons to nane Trepp and his fn'ends to tho \Ievada Gaming -
Commxssxon and buy Gibbons influence over other powerful Nevada Repubhcans including Nevada U S.
* Attorney Daniel Bogden. _ - _

The Mi]ita'l_'x.Contracts AYAnd The Federal Acquisition Regvulations. '

55.  Between the fall of 2003 anszﬁnuary 10, 2006,'defen_dants Trepp, Gibbons (who' was é
) former Air Force pilot and member of the Nevada Air Natiorial Guard), and Air Force General .Ronald Bath
(also a member of the Nev'ada Air Nationai Guard), and other Air Force o‘fﬁdalo, including Air Force
" Special Agent Paul Haralcisen, knew that orﬂy Montgomery could creéte the source codes for his ODS; and’
that Montgorher,v protected tho secfecy of the 'source codes as the sole and exclusive owner, including'thev
use of intrusion devices that would cause t'he soﬁware to self- déstruct if anyone ofher than Montgomery
attempted to access it. Quz Tam plamtlff Montgomery and defendant Trepp repeatedly dlscussed that
Montgomery was only hcensmg the ODS to fulfill the military contracts and to save American hves inthe
‘war on teror. Trepp repeatedly promlsed to “work out a deal” or “pay the '50%” on the licensing fees
satistactory to Montgomery. During thisl time, Trepp also attemptod to “;overse éngineef” the source codes
and failed. | | o -

. 56.  Starting on or about 2003, and continuing until 2006, d'efendantvCongressn.w.an Gibbons,
using his,ofﬁciai position as a U.S. Congressman, assisted defendant Trepp and eTreppid in obtaining A‘
lucrative government defense contracts with plaintiff U.S. Government including but not hmlted to the
tollowmgcomracts numbers FO8631 03-P-0182; FO8651-03-P- 0095 FO8651-03-P-0129; FA8620-04-C-
40’78 USZA26-03-P-3294: H92222-04-D- 0006/DO-0001; H9222”-O4~D-0006/DO 0002; H92222-04-D- |

o e it s

9

0006/DO-0003; H92222-04-D-0006/DO-0004; CL0328001; “SNCO3CO0L1: SNC03C0011/Mod 2
SNC03C0011/Mod 3; SNCO3C0011/Mod 4;  SNC04C0001/DO-0001: SNC04C0001/DO-0002:
SNC04C0001/DO-0003; SNCO4C0001/DO-0004; SNC04C0001,D0-0005; SNCO4C0001,DO-0006;

- M y FCA Complai
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SNC04C0001/DO-0007 : SNC04C0001/DO-0008; SNC04C0001/DO-0009; SNC04C0001.D0-0010; LLH
846-03; USZA22-04-D-0006; and F08635-03-C-129. | '
57.  Each of said defense contracts states in pertinent part, “The rights and obligations of the

parties to this contract shall be subject to and governed by the following document: (a) this award;contract,

. (b) the solicitation, ifany, and (c) such provision, representations, certifications, and specifications, as are

attached or incorporated by reference herem (Attachments are listed herein.)”

58.  Each said defense contract also has an implicit certification that all laws. regulatxons and

statutes will be complied with.

59. ‘.Defen,dants Trepp and eTreppid knew the. said defenSe_contfncts with' plaintiff U.S.
Government required compliance withall e{plicit and implicit certifications, Iaws reonlations and statutes,
mcludlng but not 11m1ted to, Federal Acquisition Regulatxons 52.203-3, 52.203-7, 52.203-8, 52 203 10,
52.203-11, 52. 703 12, and Section 1357 of Title 13 of the U. S Code. ,

60. - | ‘Defendant Trepp schemed W1th detendants Special Agent Haraldsen, Congressrnan Ginbons,
and General Bath to procure plainfiﬁ’ uU.s. Govemment'defense contracts for Trepp and eTreppid.

61.  Defendants Trepp, Gibbons, Haraldsen, and Bath knew that by Trepp 51gnm0 the said

~ defense contracts on behalf of eTreppid, Trepp was expressly and 1mplxc1tlv certlfymo that eTreppid would

be in compliance w1th all eernﬁcatlons laws, regulations, and statutes.

62.- Defendants Trepp and Glbbons knew Trepp was mtentlonally nnsrepresentmg to plaintiff
U.S. Government that eTrepp1d would be in cornphance with the said defense contracts' eemﬁcanons,
laws regulatlons, and statutes, including provisions that Trepp and eTreppid would not pay off defendant |
Gibbons, or other pubhc ofﬁmals to obtain said contracts

63. Defendant Trepp falsely certified that eTrepptd had cornphed with the said defense eontracts
in order to induce plaintiff U.S. Govemment to enter into the said contracts and to pay eTreppid’s clalms

for payment on the said contrauts

64. Detendant Trepp knew when he s1gned the said defense contracts on behalf of eTreppld anc |

" accepted payment, eTreppid had violated the terms of the said contracte’ o thumnns. laws. regulations.

and statutes. N

e : Montgomery FCA Compiaint
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, 65 Detendant Trepp and eTrepprd’s mtenttonal breach of. sard contracts and their

representatrons to plaintiff U.S. Government were traudulent

working for me as a consultant and will go on the payroll as soon as he retrred or words to that et‘fect

: T pp’s Stock Trades Based Upon Classrﬁed Or Conf dential Informatlon He Obtamed From A

Defense “ontracts Wlth Plamtlff 1.S. Government. '

67. Dunng the summer and fall of 7004 pursuant to said defense contracts wnh plamtrff U.s.

Govemment \/Iontgomery s software was then bemg used by- in.connection with the War on terror.

Vlonteomery s software produced “output” consisting of—".
—. After defendant

: Trepp learned. about this ciassiﬁed or confidential information, upon infonnation and belief, he. thei

conndenttal mtorrnatxon that Trepp had learned because of the sard defense contracts
68. In August 2005 because of work \/Iontgomery was domg for plamtrff U. S Government
‘pursuant to. govemment detense contracts wrth eTrepprd Technologres defendant Trepp learned about-

classified or confidential mformatron about specxhc 011 tanks and reﬁnenes in [raq that could have affected

i the ﬁJture pnce of oil. -

J69. Defendant Trepp 1mmed1ately passed thls clasmﬁed or conﬁdentlal mformanon onto hrs $0-

‘ called mvestrnent advrsor Steve McCarty Managlng Partner of defendant Ascentia Cap1tal Partners, LLC

: (“Ascenna)

70. Detendant Trepp isa controllmg partner at defendant Ascentm even thouzh he is not a

regxstered broker-dealer and Ascentla dlsgurses Trepp s stock actwmes through Asu:ntm

71.  Upon mtomxatton arid belief, ] \/IcCarty is really a front for defendant Trepp to do stock trades
usmg classmed Lntonnanon

72, At all times relevant herein, McCarty and detendant Ascenna. and its partners were awaré

of Trepp S back ground as the Head Trader for junk bond klng Mrchael \/Itlken

7. In a September .l 2005 e-mail, Trepp wrote to McCarty at Ascentia:

o . . ) . . L4 y FCA C

- 66. Aﬁor August 005 Trepp. repeatedly told Montgomery that General Bath Was “now '

_purchased Iarge amounts of stock through Mﬂlemum Capital. based upon this 1n31de classmed or o
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“Hi, . ..Over the nextfew days and weeks, etc., there will be some very bad things coming out.

relative to oil. It will have major implieations for the economy, oil prices, gas prices and alot

of others!!! Remind the “Boys” you can always buy oil. Regards, W.T. [Warren Trepp‘]’f

74. . Upon information and belief, the term “Boys,” refers to Trepp’s partners at Ascentia. The
infonnatibn then in the possession of Trepp w_aS de'rix)ed ﬁom specific national defense information derived
from the military contracts, which Trepp used in the trading of oil stocks in violation of said defense
conuects with plaintiff U.S. Govemment.- |

75.°  Inaddition to the said defense contracts’ express and implied certifications. set forth above:

| the contracts contained a “Public Release” clause that states, “dny information (classified or unclassified)

pertaining to this contract shall not be released for public dissemination except as provided in: the

Industrial Security Manual or unless it_has been approved for public release by appropriate U.S.

Government. authorztv A
76. Defendant Trepp, and therefore defendant Ascentia, knew the smd defense contracts between ’
plaintitf U.S. Government and eTreppid required comphance with the contracts’ certitications and non-

disclosure prov1510n, and the plaintiff U.S. Government obvxously never did and never would approve of

" defendant ATrepp giving stock tips to McCarty, A:scenﬁa‘ and its “Boys,” who were Trepp’s partners at

Ascentia, based upon classified or confidential informetidn Trepp obtained from said defense contracts,
particularly information so vital to the national security interests of the United States. |
' 77. Det‘endant Trepp, and ‘therefore defendanf Ascentia, knew eTreppid would not be-in
compliance with the said defense contracts when he sent the e-mail and passed along information for
investment purposes to McCarty, Ascentla and its “Boys | o

78.  Defendant Trepp and therefore defendant Ascenna, knew when eTreppid acuepted payment
of the said contracts he violated the terms of the said contracts, including the above “public release.” and
certifications that they would comply with all laws, regulations and statutes.

'79.  Defendant Trepp. and therefore defendant Ascentia. did not inform plainfitf Us.

Government about Trepp's said stock irading in order to induce the U.S. Government to pay on eTreppid’s

- claim for payment on the said defense contracts. and, in fact, the U.S. Government did pay on the said

15 ' v
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defense contracts.

80. Inand after August of 2005, upon mformauon and behef defendant Trepp illegally passed

along other classified or confidential information to McCarty and defendant Ascentia, in v1olanon of

- federally funded contracts, misusing federal defense funds, and engagmg in insider trading w1th classified

or confidential mformanon
| 8’.. COf plaintiff U.S. Government knew defendants ;"repp and Ascentié wére trading with'
classified or c_onﬁdéntial information Trepp obtained asa rgsult ofthe. said defense contracts with plaintiff
U.S. Government, it ﬁever would have made the payments on the said defense contracts underway at that
time, or entered into subsequenf contracts with eTfeppid. |
82 Between September and December 2005, wheti Montgomery refused to .divulge his source
codes to Trepp, Trepp conspired«with Haraldsen, Bath and Gibbons_tq try to steal the sourée codes and sell
a pornon ot them to the U.S. Air Force for $500 million dollars. ‘ .
~83. InJanuary 2006, the dispute between Trepp and Montgomery over Trepp s retusal to pay
Montgomery for his technology ﬁnally erupted and Montgomery left eTreppid on J anuary 12, 2006

-Trepp, bebons= Bath, Haraldsen, And Bogden Used The FBI
- ToTryTo Steal The Source Codes.

84. In January, 2006, Trepp/eTreppid sued Montgomery and Montg'ofnery sued TreppreTreppid,

and each_ side claimed oWnership to the source codes used to fulfill the said plziintiff U.S. Government

" defense contracts.

85.  During this time, defendant Trepp contacted his personal friends, defendant Congressman
Gibbons and General Ronald Bath, and relayed to them his problem with Montgomery.
86.  In January-February, 2006, in response to Trepp, Congressman Gibbons called his good

friend U.S. Atiorﬁev Daniel Bogden, who had been appointed'U S. Attorney by President Bush at the

- request of Gibbons. Ataround the same time, General Bath broueht in Specml Agent Haraldsen to* *set up”

and tape record conversations with Montgomery. Although \/[ontgomerv explicitly asked Haraldsen if he

was tape recordmg their conversations, Haraldsen lied and demed it.

16

Montgomery FCA Complaint




to

3]

Case 3:06-cv-00691-PMP-VPC Document 2 Filed 12/14/06 Page 17 of 36

87."  Gibbons and his wife have admitted that Congressman Gibbons irﬁtiated and made pttone.
calls at the behest of defendant Trepp, and was “responsible"' for getting U.S‘t Attomey B_ogdert to raid
' \/Iontoomery s home—which was an 1Ilegal raxd - ,

88. After GlbeﬂS request inlateJ anuary 2006, both U. S. Attorney Bogden and Speual Agent
Haraldsen instructed Reno FBI Specxal Agent \/Imhael West to go aﬁer Montgomerv on behalt of Trepp :

thrusting the Reno FBI and U.o. Attorney’s otﬁce into the civil dispute between Trepp and Montgomery.

39. U S. Attomey Bogden and FBI Special Agent West l1ed and prepared and filed 1ntent10nally L

| talse and petjured affidavits contammg mformatton fabncated by co—consptrators and defendants West, |
Haraldsen, Trepp, Venables, Gray, and Trepp tor the purpose of justifying the tllegal searches based on the
foilowjng false 'eharges against Montgomery: (i) violating 18 US.C. §793(e) ‘Unlawful Retention of
Natiortal Defense Information; and (ii) Jiolating 18US. C. § 1832.thet‘t of trade secrets. These alleged
vxolatlons were and are just patently false, and the defendants knowingly used said false charges on behalf
of Trepp to attempt to steal the source codes to the derivatives of Montgomery's copynghted technology
~ used for the said plaintiff U.S. Govemment defense contracts and to keep those said contracts flowing to |
~ Trepp and eTreppid.

90. -~ On the instructions of U.S. Attorney Bogden, and armed with this interltionally false
informatiox_l, otx March 1 and 3, 2006 and previoue thereto, Speciai Agent West lied and/or misrepresented
all of the material facts in his affidavit to the Reno United States District Court in calloas disregard of
Montgomery’s rights, obtained search warrants entirely based ui:on- knowingly ftxlse representations, and -

then tllegallyratded \/Iontoomerv s home and storage units, puttxng the prestige of the Reno U.S. Attorney’s
| office behmd Trepp, a notoriously bad character Said unconstitutional raid was in direct violation of
' \/Iontoomerv s Fourth Amendment nghts and 1gnored national DOJ policy, including policy that the U. 3.
Attorney should not get mvolved in civil dxsputes between two potential owners. as set torth in DOJ.
Prosecuting [ntellectual Property Crzmes Manual, § VIIB.6e, and other polrcles. procedures and rules and
r_egutations in CCIPS.

’ 91 Onor about March [ and 3, 2006, at the time of said'_raid; Gibbons, Bath, Haraldsen. and
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Trepp had secured a military contract with the Air Force entirely based on Montgomery's 50 fiware, for at
least One Hundred Mllhon Dollars. Atthat time, each of said defendants and Bogden knew Montgomery,
not Trepp, owned and exclusrv ely possessed the source codes required to fulfill said contract, and their only

means of obtaining the source codes was to seize them from Montgomery. By illegally raiding

. .

. Montgomery’s home and storage units on March 1 and 3, 2006 to steal hrs technology in order to use smd

technology in o_ngomg plaintiff U.S. Government defense contracts and to keep those contracts flowing to

- defendants Trepp and eTreppid, (who was paying otf defendant Gibbonsl, each ot'said defendants, and Us.
Attorney Bogden and Special Agent West not only perpetrated a fraud on plaintitf U.S. Government, they. .

' wilfully pr,evented Montg’omery from providing the technology to the deernmem to save American lives.

The Defendants” Knew By Conductmg Said Raid They Were Jeopardmng Amertcan
Lives, “§teahng The Technolozv, And “Stealing” Hundreds Of 1\hlhons Oof Dollars , '

92. Most significantly, at the time of said raid, as a result of Haraldsen S tape recorded

conversanons w1th Montgomery, Trepp, Gibbons, Bath, Bogden, and Haraldsen all lcnew ’vlontgomery had

beeni in contact with several former highlevel Government oﬁicxals, above them, who were drscussmg with

Montgomery s representatives the 1mmed1ate hcensmg of the technology to the Gov emment in order to

save American hves in connéection w1th the war on terror.

93. Haraldsen, Bogden, and Bath *specrhcally knew that these former high level Government |

officials, including an Air Force general, had beenin drrect contact w1th high level officials within the Bush

Admlmstratron for the express purpose of gettmg the technology Operrmve in order to continue -

: Montgomery S “torecastmg” of potential terrorist threats to our country..

94. Haraldsen Bath and Trepp also knew Montgomery had mserted ‘intrusion protocols™ in
all of his software while serving as an independent contractor at eTreppid, and Montgomery routinely -
mserted “intrusion protocols” in software Montgomery was then developing at his horne in order to protect

his software trom Trepp and others who sought to steal it. -~

95. . Haraldsen and each of the other defendants knew that by attemptrng to serze the.source A

codes to the sottware by conductmg a patentlv unconstrtutlonal ra1d thev would then dlsrupt Montoomerv s

18
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continued eﬂons to secure for the United States the continuous “torecasung" of potential terrorist threats, -
Notwithstanding tlus knowledge detendants Trepp, Gibbons, Bath, Bogden, and Haraldsen placed their

greed, based upon thexr ‘connection” to Trepp, a notonously greedy individual in the possession of millions

of dollars of Drexel/Milken Junk Bond monies, ahead of their responsibility and loyalty to the United |

States.

96.  Conclusive proofofthis faet and conclusive evidence of the true motives of these defendants
is found in their conduct to assist Ttepp and Gibbons in raiding Moﬁtgomery’é home,' rather than
connecting Montgomery directly to Bush Administration officials for the pt.ttoose of utilizing the sot’cﬁ/are
Lndeed after Montgomery senthis letter to Bush A\dmxmstratlon otﬁcxals onMarch | , 2006, attached hereto
as Exhlbtt 1, each of said defendants dzd exervthxng in their power to block and undermme \'Iontgomery s

access to the Air Force, to the Department of Justice, and to USSOC OM and to the Bush Admmtstratton

and to thwart his efforts to provide the technology to the Government while knowmg it was vital to the

security interests of the United States. A
97.  After Montgomery left eTreppid on J amiai‘y 12,2006, each of said defendant Govemmenf
officials had a simple choice to rhake: either'proteet the Government as they were sworn to do and

safeguard the technology_ for purposes of national security knowing :that Montgomery was trying to deliver

it'to the Govermnent‘ -or serve Trepp and his f'mancial interests and attempt to “steal” it for Trepp knowing
* he didn’t develop, own or possess the technology, and that he had no ability to use itin the war on terror,

They each chose to lie and cheat with Trepp because of greed and the collusive schemmg of Trepp, Gibbons '

a.nd Bath

98. Each of them knew that Montgomery had repeatedly stated to Haraldsen in their illegally
recorded conversations that \/Iontgomerv was then doing everything in his power to make the technology
av a11able to the Government. oet the software operatwe, and give the “output" to the Government to save

Amencan lives. They each knew trom Haraldsen that Montgomery and his representatlves knew that Bath

'and Gibbons were in collusion w1th Trepp, and that said representatives were going around them for the

express purpose of gemng the technology to the Government and blowmg the whistle on Trepp, Bath :md
19
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: Gibhons (L fortunatelv at the ttme prior to the. rard based on Haraldsen S statements to Montoomery,. A

Montgomery still trusted Haraldsen believing he’ was not in collus:on wrth Bath and thbons )

- 99, General Bath also knew. from his posmon as an Air Force General that ’\/Iontgomery was

then attemptmg to contact high level Bush Admmlstratton ofﬁcral.s to secure the technology for the Unlted
States. Indeed, notwithstanding Haraldsen s repeated eﬁ’orts to entrap Montgomery inthese conversanons, |
\/Iontgomerv repeatedly disclosed and dtscussed his:i mtent to contact the Bush Admtntstratton to secure h1<
technology for the Umted States: Iti is unperattve for the Government to obtain a11 of the tape recordmgs

of Haraldsen before he destroys them. It is imperative for the Government to.secure each and every memo, - '

ematl document and the notes of everyone involved within the Government in order to substanttate and
track all of the etforts of these defendants and other Government ofﬁcxals workmg and/or «.ommumcatmg -

: wrth them, 1ncludtng but not hmtted to the followmg Peter D. Ketsler Greg Addmgton Vincent M.

Garvey; Carlotta Wells; w. Ktphng At Lee, Jr_ John B. Hennessey, Paul -

Pugliese; Ronald Rachow, all agents and supervisors in the Reno office of the FBI —tb, :

Abe rdent:ﬁed in camera; J ohn Negroponte and all individuals involved in- secunng his declaratton

100. Haraldsen Bath, and Bogden as ofﬁcrals ofthe Govemment knew betore the, ra\d that all

- they had to do wasto connect ’\/Iontgornery and his representattves to the appropnate officials thhm the .

.Bush Adrmmstratton in order to safeguard the technology for the United States However they knew in.

doing so, they would secure the technology for the Government, but thev would personally lose millions

of dollars for thernselves and hundreds of millions of dollars for thetr friend Trepp There is srmply o

. other logtcal cxplanatton for their conduct, Haraldsen s xnteractrons w1th Montoomerv constttute conclusrve

evidence wrth reSpect to the motlves of each and every 1nd1v1dual involved herem Instead of lmkmg

Montgomery to USSOCOM, Donald Rumsfeld the Secretary of'the Atr Force, the Secretary of the-Navy

(who was at eTrepptd) and others who knew about \'Iontgomery s “forecasting” softwaret Haraldsen, Bath, .

' and Bogden at the behest of Trepp and Gibbons, raxded Montgomery’s home attempting to steal the o

E technologv for Trepp.

101, Notwithstanding the criminal conduct of these Government officials., including Bogden

20

Mantgomery FCA Comptutt



N

SR> N V S O U9

co-

Case 3:06-cv-00691-PMP-VPC ' Document 2 Filed 12/14/06 Page 21 of 36

Bath, Gibbon, and Haraldsen — the local Reno political_ power structure — Montéoméry later received the

‘help of true patriotic Americans and was able to circumvent them. He then freely gave:the “output” from

his technology to the Bush Administration, and this “output” subsequently and correctly"forecasted a
specitic terrorist threat saving'the lives of potentially phousands of Americans.

| 102. * The criminal conduct of these Government officials, as well as Trepp, Venables, Gray, and |
West, is demonstrably proven in the falsehoods, fabrications, distoﬁions, ard outright lies tound in the West
affidavitto obtain the search Wmants. As previously etated, the search warrants were primarily baeed upon

the falsehood that Montgomery had taken “classified informiation.”

" The “Unlawful Retention Of National Defense Information” Was A Lie.

-103.  After the illegal raids,-Montgomery immediately challenged the plainly unconstitutional

raids with a Rule 41 (g) Motion in court. Shortly thereafter, U.S. Attoi-ney Bogden, Special Agents

~Haraldsen and West, as soon as challenged were forced to admit there was no “classiﬁed information” in

Montgomery's possesswn at the time of the search Said adrmsswn was made because they. could not get

“Ongmal C1a551ﬁcat10n Authority” (an “OCA”) to join their fraud and sign a document retroactwely

i “classifying” mformatmn that h_ad never been classified to begin with.

104, U.s. Attorney Bogden, defendants Haraldsen, West,. and ‘other government officials, and
defendants Trepp, Venables, Gray, and others, falsely, and in reckless disregard of the truth, lied and Or '
committed perJury in order to fabricate the claim that Montgomery was 111e0a11y in the possesswn ot _

classmed mformatlon Otherw1se Bogden and West knew they had no legmmate means to search ,

\/Iontgomerv s home and storage units and to illegally seize Montgomery s source code used on plamtxff

C.S. Govemment sdetense contracts On the mstructxons of U.s. Attorney Bogden Haraldsen West,and -
their defendant co-conspirators knowingly misled the judge 1ssu1ng the warrants with respect to the
following specific falsehoods in order tov seize Montgomery’s source codes used on the said pldindﬁ UsS.
Government’s defense contracts: |

a) No™national defense information” and/or “classified information” was ever properly elessitied

at eTreppid Technologies pursuant to the requirements of “Executive Order 13292 and/or ““The National
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Industrial Security Program Operating Manual” (the “Security Manual™). Bogden. Hardldsen, West,
Trepp. Venebles, and Grey knéw this months before the search and the preparation of the knowingly false
affidavits, because they W-ere at eTreppid, observed the failure to comply with “cla’ssiﬁcation protocols”

: by the Security Manual were b.e1ng complied with. Haraldsen and West are specmhsts within the Air Force

"and FBI, respectiv;eiy, in dealing with * classﬁed 1mormauon "'hey were informed months before t'1e
illegal raid by Montgom_ery,' court filings, an agency in the Government, and by other Air Force officials -
that there was no "ctessitied information” at 'etheppid that Montgomery could be charged with taking. - |

b) .During the duration of the milita,ryvcontracts between November 2002 and September 2003,

- Montg()mery was the on.'ly. person at eTreppid witha Top Secret SCI CIea'rencewho actue.lly worked on the
contracts with his software: Thus, Montgomery was entitled to possess any “‘national defense information” |
or “classified information” relating to said contracts that was properly rnzu“ked and designated by an
“original classification anthoﬁty,;’ pursuant to Ex'ecutive Order t3292 and The Security Manual.

Accordingly, he could not. be prosecuted for'possessing what he was lawfully entitled to possess. "On or

! .after January 10, 2006, defendants Haraldsen, West, Trepp, and Venables concocted a scheme to have |

Venables and eTreppld attemnpt to cancel Montgomery s Top Secret clearance on the “official request of

Venables and Trepp” with knowmgly false statements and wh11e knowmg'only the government could cancel < -

‘\/Iontgomery s clearance. - Detendants Haraldsen, Trepp, and Venables, acting in concert speuﬁcally
“violated Montgomery s rights under Executwe Order 10865 and Department of Detense Directive 5220.6
requmng, inter alia, notice and a hear_mg in connection with any suspension or revocation of a security
clearance. In fact, Montgomery’s clearance has never been canceled. Bogden, West, Haraldsen, and others
* knowingly misled the judge issuing the warrants with respect to Montgomery’s enﬁtlement to possess
vclassified information.” ' “
c) eTreppid Technologies did not have a facility clearance, and could not “store”.or ‘;handle" anvl
classmed information” in the possession of Montgomerv Haraldsen and West knew eTreppid did not

have a ‘tacxhtv clearance because thev personally had investigated eTreppld s lack of security protoeols
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to stote and handle f‘classiﬁed information."’ and they kniew eTreppid was incapable of implementing the

I rules and regulations in The Security Manual. They also knew the Manual required Warren Trepp to have

a “‘reputation for integrity’" in order to obtaina “facility ¢learance.” In fact, Trepp did not have a reputation

for integrity; instead, Trepp had a reputation as a financial criminal that had been extensively documented

by the FBL. In ‘ofder to obtain the search warrants, Trepp, G'ray, and West conspired to falsify eTreppid’s

right to “store” the “classitied information” they falsely claimed Montgomery had taken. Pufsuant to this
scheme, West stated uﬁder oath in his seﬁrch affidavit.that the DoD had iseued a clearance to “'store” the
“classified informﬂioﬁ” aI]egedlf stolen by Montgomery in “Form DD 254.” This was a knowing
falsehood by West and Gray. 'Form DD 254 had been typed up by Gray and never signed by an OCA on
behalf of the Government Yet at Nevada U.S, Attomey Bogden’s du'ectlon h1s otfice attempted to
mlslead the court that issued the-warrants as late as August 17, 2006 in an evidentiary hearing relating to-
the xllegal raids, ‘ '

d) Defendant Trepp had a national reputation for being involved in the largest criminal mt&pnse
involving securities fraud in the history of the Umted States, which prevented eTreppxd trom not only

obtaining a facilities clearance, but prohibited the FBI from relymg on him as a credible source. Trepp s

| reputation had been documented by the FBlin thelr investigation of Trepp when he applied tor a facﬂmes

clearance years prior to the search. Trepp’s background history, and part1c1pat1on in criminal condut.t were

documented in an extensive FBI file concerning Trepp that covered at least the previous fifteen years.

| Nevada U.S. Attorney Bog’den, Heraldsen and West knew pursuant to the protocols established in FBI

mvesngauons and operatlons manual (MIOGQG), they should not rely on Trepp as a reliable source for

purposes of obtaining a search warrant; and seeking a search warrant relying on Trepp as a credible source

wasv contrary to basic established law and Judlclal precedent.

e) Prior to the illegal raid on Montgorhery’s home, the FB[ and other U.S. govemmehtal agencies

knew or should have known Trepp was implicated in an investigation in the State of Ohjo along withan

' already then indicted co-conspirator for, inter alia. money laundering and RICO violations involving the

sale of another one of Trepp’s companies used in a state pension fraud scheme. Thus, prior to the search.
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the FBI knew Trepp was neither a credible nor a reliable source, had an ulterior motive, and was seeking

- tosteal over $500 million of Montgomery’s software. Nevada U.S. Attorney Bogden, Haraldsen and West,

and chers knowingly misled the judge issuing the warrants with respect to Trepp’s criminal background
and lack of credibility. | L
| f) The “classified information” basis to raid Montgomery’s home was a fraud by U.S. Attorney

Bos_.,den defenda_nts Haraldsen, West, Trepp, Ver'ables Gray, and othe's, against M oatgomerv and the

- court, and the aforementioned Bogden and detendants knew it, because, like a security clearance. the
" Government is charoed with knowledge of its own * classxhed information.” By. Executive Order 13292

- and comprehenswe : regulanons, encapsulated in-the Security Manual. and acting through an “Original

Classmcanon Authonty"(an“OCA "), only the Government determmes designates, owns, and spemﬁcallv
marks what ir deems to be “classified information,"- not eTreppid, not its employees, not Bogden and |

West. U.S. Attorney Bogden and Special Agent West were required to tell the requlstte branch of the

'. government of their tmdmgs Since the Government by law, is charged with the duty of “cla551ty1ng

mformanon its agents by Iaw including Bogden Haraldsen and West, are charged with knowledge of _.

what is “classified,” and the duty to ascértain xt

The Alleged Theft Of Trade Secrets Was A Lie. _
105. At the time of this illegal raJd U.s. Attomey Bogden Special Agents Haraldsen and West,
and other U.S. officials knew the official policy of the DOJ Computer Crimes and Intellectual Property

Section and the Intellectual Crimes Department of the U.S. Attorney General’s office was to treat the

‘creator and developer of software who preserved the secrecy of his source codes as the true owner.

106.  Acting on the instructions of Nevada U.S. Attorney Bogden. Specml Agent West illegally

taided \/[ontgomery shome and storage umts in v1olat10n ofthe rules and pollc1es ofthe "CHIP (Computer

Hacking and Intellectual Property) Units of the Department of Justice, which control the i mvestlgatlon and
prosecution of inteilectual property crimes, specifically violated the written policy of the CHIP units as
found in CCIPS and other CHIP manuals and Bogden and West knowingly m1sled the judge issuing the

warrants with respect to the tollowmg material facts, in addition to the material facts set forth above:
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a) Montgomery is a JO% owner of eTreppld The CCIPS Guidelines prohibit the crimirial
mvesngatton dnd prosecution of Montgomery as an owner of “trade secrets.” Said CCIP Guidelines
prohibit the prosecutton of one ownerbased on the cornplamt of the other owner‘engaged in a dispute over
the ownership of intellectual pro’perty. | A

b) - Montgomery owned the copyri ghts and derivatives to the ODS techn'olo'gy used in the U.S.

- Government contracts and vigorously protected the secrecy of the source codes to the software with specific

intrusion protocols and by dili gently preventing Trepp and tmy of his agents; employees, and henchmen
trom obtaining the source codes. The CCIPS Guidelines prohibit the investigation and prosecution of

Montgomery ‘as the owner" of the copyrights in the software technology. Said guidelines explicitly

] recogmze the creation and control over the source codes and the protectlon of the secrecy of the soﬁware

as the strongest 1nd1c1a of ownershlp

c) Montgomery, a‘s,the sole creator of the subject software, could engineer and/or reverse
engineer said codes at will. Thus, under CCIPS Guidelines he could not be the “subject” of a legitimate’
c'n'.miriai investigation and could never be prosecuted t'or stealing his own software.

| d) | Th‘e' Contribution Agt'eement As set forth in the Contnbunon Agreement in the -

possession of S pec1a1 Agents Haraldsen and West prior to the illegal search, ’viontgomery “only” conveyed

“that compresswn soﬁware contained on CD No. 1” because they had.dnscussed the mafter with Trepp, and

they all agreed to raid Montgomery’ s home W1thout conductmg any comparative tests in order to selze
soﬁware which they knew was not on “CD No. 1" and had never been conveyed to eTreppid. A simpletest
to run the software on CD No. | and to compare the results to the tests conducted in performance of'the U.S.
Govemment contracts would have proven to all of the conspirat_ors that Montgomery,n not Trepp or
eTreppid, owned the software at issue. : |

e) ' Specxa] Agent West lied to obtain the warrants by intentionally deleting the language that
Montgomery only conveyed “that compression technology contained on CD No. 1" while knowingly
misleading the judge issnin_g the warrants that Montgomery had conveyed *all ofhis copyrights. . .patents...

etc. to eTreppid. Special Agent West also intentionally deleted the very next clause in the
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Contribution Agreement feciting that Montgomery was explicitly not conveying imy of his technology.not

contained.on CD No. 1. The use of the explicitly false affidavits and the failure to do the testing is evidence -

“of their specific intent to steal the technology for Trepp. Bogden, West, Haraldsen, and other U.S. officials
- knew the affidavits were explicitl\} false because they had possession and/or access to Montgomery’s |

* federal copyright complaint attaching the copyn ghts Bogden West, and Haraldsen and other U.S. officials

k_nowmgly mrsled the Judge issuing the warrants.

" fy  The Operatmg Agreement. Asifthe foregomg deception was not enough the Reno office

of tﬁe FBI intentionally deleted the key phrase from the Operating Agreement, which also altered the entire -

: meaning of what Nevada U.S. Attorney Bogden and Special Agent West were declaring to the court. In
_ order to try to show the court that Montgomery was bound by an “Agreement Not to Compete,” preventing

“him from disclosing and/or using “trade secrets” after he left eTreppid, and/or from using “any” of the V

“Technology”he worked on at eTreppid “in competitio’ﬁ” with eT;gppid, Nevada U.S. Attorney Bogdén
and defendant West falsified the precise sentence in the search affidavit relating to these issues. It

intentionally deleted the following bold and underlined phrase: “So long as MONTGOMERY is appointed

as a Committee Member and/or as Chief Technology Officer p_ﬁrsuant to this Agreement. MONTGOMERY

- and his Affiliates égx'ee that, during the term of this Agreement, none of them shall compete with the LLC,

whether fof their own account and/or for the account of others, 'individua.lly, jointly with others, orasapart’ -
of any other limited liability company, hm1ted partnershlp, general partnership, Jomt venture, corporatlon

or other entxty, by: (1) developing, licensing or explomng in any manner any software programs or other

technology which is competltxve with the Technology or the Busmess ofthe LLC or prov1dmg any services

or supphes whxch are encompassed within the definition of the "Business" of the LLC set forth in this
agreement” . . .. Tﬁe Agreement Not to Compete was only valid “[s]o long as Momgomery,is appointed
asa Committeo Member an/or as Chief Technology Ofﬁcer".’ Nevada U.S. Attorney Bogden and Speciai
Agent West knew Montgomery was no longer Chief T-echnology. Officer and West never checked to see
if Montgomery was still a Member. | o | | |

8 If the Bogden, Haraldsen, West, and the Reno FBI office had not deleted these key phmsés,
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then the court would have known the only written conveyance by Montgomery of source code that mxght -

constxtute a trade secret was the specrﬁc source code belonging to eTreppid “contained on CD No. 1.”

: \/Iorcover if they had not deleted the crucral phrase in the Operating Agreement, the c.ourt would have

known Montgomery was not subject to. an “agreement not to compete,” and that \r[ontoomery claimed

-ownership to all of his intellectual property not “contained on CD No. 1,” and expressly excluded in the

_“cut off” paragraph. Alternatively, if they were attempting to obtain a warrant for the  source code.

“contained on CD No. 1,” there was no “particularity” in the warrants referencing either “CD No. 1,” or
the source codes on it. Also, their own fabrications prevented them from claiming that Montgomery had‘

even stolen CD No. 1 because they never informed the court that CD No. 1 existed. Thus, their intentional

- falsehoods in these two cmcial documents were a fraudulent attempt to deceive the Court with respect to

ownership, and circumvented the ° ‘particularity” required under the Fourth Amendment, and directly -

-undercut probable cause to support a “theft of trade secrets.”

h) . Montgomery Was Not An “Emploxee. Special Agent West stated that in 2000-2001,
\/Iontgomery assi gned ten patents to eTreppld “developed by Montgomery while an emplovee at eTrepprd "

This statement was false. West admitted he used the assrgned patents toprove Montgomery’s alleged status

asan “employee,” which was false because the patents contain no reference to his status as an employee,.

' and he did not ask Trepp' for W-2s during the critical years 2000: to 2002 when even eTreppid treated

Montgomery as an independent contractor. The inclusion of the 'oetent assignments, coupled with the -
deletions from the foregoing agreetnents created the additional false impression that Montgomery had

conveyed “all” of hlS technology in the allegedly “stolen” trade secrets to €Treppid, which is also false, and

il thatthetechnology embodled in the paterits was the “stolen eTreppid Source Codes.” West tried to deceive -

the judge on these facts. Fi 1rst, by law, there can be no trade secret in patented software because the source

codes are public. Second the patents only relate to the source codes on CD No 1, which \/Iontgomery had

already conveyed, and not the codes used on plaintiff U.S. Government S sard detense contracts.

‘Cumulatively, these falsehoods were designed to mislead the court into believing Montgo‘mery ‘was an

“employee” whio had taken classified informetion, who had transferred all of his “Technology” to eTreppid,
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and who was barred from even poséessing eTreppid trade secrets for any of the stated restrictions, i.¢., '
“deVeloping,'licensing or exploiting” etc.. that “all” of the “Technology” and “sofﬁ:vare programs” were
owned and possessed by eTreppid, and that Moﬁtgémery was prohibited from using “Ahy Technology” “in
- competition” with eTrépf)id. Every one of tﬁese representations were and are complétely false—all
contradicted by thé deleted phrases, 'Wes‘t’s‘admissions,. and the Government’s own documents.
i) Montgomery had the absolute right, as the sole owner of the ODS.technology. as the sole
owner of th_é qopyrights to said technology, and as the-50% owner of eTreppid, to possess any form or
' comi)ohént of said technology, whether soﬁware’of hﬁrdware, whether identified as “eTreppid Source
Code™ as rec_ifed in the illegz;l warrants and iiccompanying affidavits, @r otherwise, which the FBI acting
in conceft with Trepp, have falsely identified as beihg owned by eTreppid Téchnologies and as constituting
“trade secrets” within the purview of 13 U.s:.C. 1832. In sum, Trepp and hJS éo-coqspi_rators, as set forth
, hereivn, knew,. or recklessly disregarded the fact that only Montgomery .owned, possessed, and had
copyrighted the actual mathematical algorithms ;constituting' the source codein dispute. They knev? Trepp |
had failed to obtain it in a previous hearing.on Eebruary 7, 2006 on Trepp's Motion for a Preliminary -
 Injunction. Thus, they knew the dnly way they co.uld obtain the secret soufce code was to. steal it while
acting under the pretense of thé'color of law. They knowingly misled the judge issuing the warrants as 1o
the collective ownership issues involved in the source codes which they knew only Mor’itgomery had the
right to possess, as demonstrated throughout his history ét 'eTreppid. | |
)] In bad faith, and in violation of the requirements of the FBI investigation protoc;ols‘(MIOG)
and DOJ proiocols inthe investigation of “citizen complaints,” and iﬁ violation of CCIPS, and the explidt
.int’e,i’na} directives of the CHIP Unité, no one within the FBI, DoJ, the U.S. Attorney»’é Ofﬁce, or the
| Attorney General’s Office, including, but not limited to, Bogden, Haraldsen. West, and others, ever
- contacted Montgomery to get his side of the story. . Yet, theré were court tilings d'oéumenting ~
Montgomery’s ownership. The Reno U.S.v Attorney’s office and FBI breached their own protocols.
- Notwithstanding this failure, defeﬁdants Trepp, Bogden. and West, at the timie of the illegal search, had
"~ access to all of Montgomery’s 'ﬁlings ﬁnd the transeript fromtvhe‘ heéring on the preli'minary injunction,
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: irtcluding the fact eTreopid only had a non-exclusive oral license to use Montgomery’s technology which
was embodied in copyrights then on file in the preliminary injunction hearing and in the federal copyright
comptaint filed by Montgomery. Moreover, the Reno Us. Attorney’s 'Ofﬁce and the FBI was advised of

. these facts in writing on March 1, 2006, the day of the.illegal raid. Yet, it then raided Montgomery’s -
storage facility on March 3, 2006, two days after receiving notice of.the material facts.

k) The "s.ource code” technotogy Haraldsen, West, and Trepp falsely ctaimed in the search .
affidavits to be a “trade secret” was actually de\)elo'ped by <Montgon'1ery years prior to becoming an owner
of e’freppid. and was embodied'in his copyﬁghts dating ba’ek to the 1980’s, and not within CD No. las -
defined in the Contr_ibution Agreement. The FBI and Trepp, acting in concert, knew pUrsuaht to the
protocols established in CCIPS the Government had the burden of establishing probable cause that
Montgomery was not the owner of .said. software end that any “taking” by Montgomery was “proprietary.”
Because Moqtgomery is the owner ofthe teetmology, any attempted seizure of Montgomery’s property, i.e.,
the source codes, is inl. direct vtolétion of the U.S. Constitution's Fourth Amendment (illegal search andl
seizure), the Fifth Amendment (deprivation of property), 17 U.S.C. § 506 (a)(1)(A), 18 U.S.C. §23 19(b) -
I (theft of copyrights), 18 U.S.C. §1832 (theft of trade secrets), and in explicit violation of CCIPS. |

]) . Bogden, Haraldsen, West, and Trepp and other U. S ofﬁcxals also knew Montgomery had
executed “patent apphcattons” on behalf of eTreppid relating to the “compressxon technology” conveyed
by Montgomery to eTreppld, and pursuant to law, s_oﬁware-source codes contained in “patent applications” --
could never be “trade secrets,” and, therefore, could never be the subject ofa search warrant alleging
violations.of 18 U. S.C. §1832 (theft of trade secrets) Bogden Haraldsen, West, Trepp and others .
knowingly rmsled the Judae 1ssu1ng the warrants on thls point clalmmg the patents were part of the *'stolen”
source codes.

107.  Asaresultofthe foregoing conduct, Montgomery’s counsel attempted to communicate with '
several of the highest officials within the U.S. Government in the hopes of exposing Trepp's corrupt
tntluenee, thwarting Trepp's efforts to steal the technology, and thus assist in sztvixig American lives with

Montgomery’s technology used on the said plaintiff U.S. Government defense contracts. Unfortunately,
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| 'Trepp’s cofmpt- mﬂume-wn.hin the the Axr Force, the Al Fawe Geneml Counisel’s Ofﬁce and
the Rspubhcan power structure af Nevada. has. s0 far blocked \401‘: '8 patnonc efforts

_ IQS. If pl amtlff uU. S. Gevemment ‘had known whiat Trepp and his ce~consp1rat0rs were domg, as

- set f’orth above, it would. have affested it decision to pay.on the Sa;d government defense contracts and |

or it wouid not have contr:ac.’:ted with &Treppid: and Trepp, s Hiade payments on thme said coutracts '

109, As a dxrect and gr@mmate rasult of thie foregexﬂg # aﬁﬁﬁs of the govemment contracts

:?;.;z.{;'j_sai ok d the. expense of plaintiff U

Government.

110, Also, as a resuft of the foregoing, Montgomiery s been deprived of the use of his

gt ‘weapons in the war on terror, all
and his c’@-ccms’pimtdrs, iﬁdﬁdﬁag, but -

not limited to, Congressman Gibbons; U. 8. Aft(miey Bmgden, Spemal Ageuts Haraldsen and West, Trepp-'

, and his empieyees, Yenables aﬂd Gray.
-' F RS

 CAUSE OF ACTION -

__ Viotation Of The False C,Im& At For Violsting Péfense Contracts’ Express and

B ,ﬁ@naﬂ@fmmm,mxwm &mmﬁa

1L Plamnffreallegesaﬁdim@tpmms_"i'ibyfefe‘fﬁm, :ﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁé@n@ﬁ&diﬁmﬁaﬁhs one

112, As set-forth: abeve, ésfendan‘ts Trspp e’i‘r@ypmi, wz%h the aid @f theu' co~consp1rators set

. forth above, vmlated the foilowmg premmns of 31U, S <. §3729 (ay:

(1) kno wmgl}/ presents or canses to bepres&mé, foani mfﬁcer or employee of the bmted States
Govemment or a member- of the Armed F‘ewas of the United States a faiae or ﬁﬁaudulentl :
: elaim fo:r paymem or 2 mval

(2 B knowmgly makes, uses, 01' CiISes t@ be maeie or ussd, a false rewrd or statemem to oet a

false or fraudulest: "f-'-'
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(3)  conspires to defraud the Government by getting a false or fraudulent claim allowed or paid.

113. Defendants Trepp and eTreppid breached their said defense conitracts with plaintiff U.s.

Government as set forth above including, but not limited to, as follows: the aforementioned contracts

required coinpliance with certain conditions asa prerequisife to payment; the aforerpentieried contracts
expressly and implicitly cemhed that Trepp and eTreppxd were in compliance with all certifications, laws,

regulations, and statutes including federal acquxsmon regulatxons defendants Trepp and eTreppld failed
to comply with the sald defense contracts express and implicit certifications, laws, regulanons, and statutes ..
because they were paving unreported money to U.S. Congressman Gibbons in exchange for his efforts to
assist eTreppid in winning lucratlve defense contracts the defendants falsely certlﬁed they had comphed A
in order to get plamtlff U.S. Government to pay on the said contracts Trepp and eTreppid knew the Sald |

defense contracts were in part, obtained withillegal and or 1lleg1t1rnate kickbacks, contributions and or gifts

‘ to pubhc and govemment ofﬁclals, including Congressman bebons, Trepp and eTreppid were dwertlng "

profits from the said defense.contracte to payoff public and government otﬁcmls, including Congressman
G;bbens; and.Trepp and eTreppid failed to disclose and intentional]y -eoncealed in their submission of -
claims to plainﬁﬁ" uU.Ss. C;ov_emment the.a_forementioned non-compliance with said defense contracts’
express and implicit cerﬁﬁcations, laws, regulations and s:tatutes. N
- 114.' As set forth fully above on edch government defense contract, defendants Trepp and
eTreppld knowmgly engaged in non-comphance with the said deteuse contracts’ express and 1mp11c1t»
certifications, subrmtted talse forms for payment to plaintitf U.S. Government, and received payments
pursuant to those false forms. _

115, Inreliance on defendant Trepp and eTreppld’s false subm1551ons payments were made by -
plaintiff U.S. Government to eTreppid for Montgomery’s work on each said-defense contract. . |
| 1 16.  Each request for payment on each said government defenée contract was a false claim or

report under 31 U.S.C. § 3729.

117.- Defendants Trepp and eTreppidhad actual knowledge they were knowingly misrepresenting
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to plaintiff U.S. Government that they were in compliance with the said government defense contracts’

express and implied certifications, laws, regulations, and statutes, as set forth herein, when they knew they

were not, or, in the alternative, acted in deliberate ignorance or reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of

' the mformanon

118. Asadirect and proxxmate result of their wolatlons of the False Claims Act, plaintiff U. S
Government has suffered and continues to suffer damages in an amount to be determined at trial, ~but in
excess of any jurisdiot_ional minimum of this Court,

119 Plaintiff U.S. Government is entitled to treble démages together with punitive damages of”
$10,000 for each of the false claims as provided in 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a). | |
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation Of False -Claims‘Act For Misuse Of Classified or C onfidential Information

In Violation Of Defense Contracts"Ex_bress And Implied Certifications, Laws, Regulations and

Statlites«'—Aghinst Trepp, ¢Treppid and Aécehtia Capital Partnefs, LLC, Only.

120. | Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by ;’oference each allegation contained ini paragraphis one

through 119 as though restated here in full.

121, As set forth above, defendants Trepp and eTreppld w1th the aid of their co- consplrators

4 mcludmg Ascentia, violated the provmons of 31 US.C. §.3729 (a).

122:.'-'- As set forth above Trepp obtamed classified or confidential information from

Montgomery s work on government defense contracts and Trepp passed that mformanon along to the

‘.. 'pubhc including hlS trading “Boys” through McCarty at Ascentla, o they could make money from this

" inside classxhed or confidential mfonnatlon

123. McCarty and Ascentia knew about Trepp’s background with Mllken yet they passed Trepp's
tiponto Ascentia’s partners knowing Trepp was in violation of eTreppid’s sa1d detense contracts by passirig
along said classiﬁed or contidential information. f o ‘ |

124, By passing along the said infonlhati_on‘ Trepp and Ascentia were. misusihg classified or

confidential information obtained from plaintiff US Government’s federally funded defense contracts,
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misusing federal funds, and or insider trading with classified information, all in violation of €Treppid’s
contracts with the plaintiff U.S. Covernment, inc;ludinglexpress and implied certifications in the said
coﬁtracts. i |

125. Each and every trade done based upon information Trepp gave to McCarty and Ascentia,
which Trepp obtained as a result of the said goverhmeni defense contracts, was a violation of the said
_(iéfense-contracfs. .

126. - Defendants Trepp and Ascentia knowingly, or in the alternative, feéklessly and/or in .

deliberate disregard for the truth, used inside classitied or confidential government information to capitalize

_in the stock market in violation of the law, including eTreppid’s said contracts with plaintiff U.S.

Government.
127. - Trepp and eTr'éppid failed to disclose and igtentionally,concealed in their submission of .
claims to plaintiff U.S. Government the aforementioned inside trading' with classified-or confidential

information. -

128. Had plaintiff U.S. Goi/emment known that Trepp, McCarty and Ascentia were engaged in

. said illegal conduct, and they were trading stocks with information Trepp obtained as a result of the said

government defense contracts, it would have affected plaihtiﬁ' U.S. Government’s decision to pay.

129. Asadirectand proximéte result of Trepp and Ascentia’s violations of'the False Claims Act,
plaintiff U.S. Government has suffered and continues to suffer damages in an amount to be detertnined at
trial, but in excess of any jurisdictional minimum of this court.

. -130. Plaintiff U.S. Government is entitled to treﬁle damages together with purﬁti‘?e daméges of
510,000 for each of the more than 2,000 false claims as provided in 31 U.S.C. § 3729(3).
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION |
Violation Of False Claims Act For Violations Of The Express And Implied Certifications On |
Government Contracts, To Keep The Defense Contfacts Flowing To Trepp And ETx;eppid-Againsi

All Defendants, Except Ascentia Capital Partners, LLC.

131. . Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each allegation contained in paragraphs one .
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: through 130 as thouah restated here i in full.

132.  As set forth above, defendants Trepp and eTreppld with the aid of thelr CO-CONSpirators,
inoluding Congressman Gibbons, Special Agents Haraldsen and West, Venables. and Gray violated the -
provisions of 31 U.S.C. § 3729 (a). |

133.  As set forth above, Trepp and eTreppid made: illegal political contﬁbutions to Gibbons to |
solicit Gibbons" help in obtaln.ng the said plﬂmtrff uUs. Govemment defense confracts; said contributions
violated express and implied certlﬁcatlons in these contracts wnh plaintiff U.S. Government, and Trepp
and eTreppid were not in cOmphance_ with these express and implied certitications, laws, regulations,’and '

statutes.

134. When Montgoméry_ left eTreppid in January 2006, Trepo conta'cted' c ongressman Gibbons

- with regard to Montgomery in order to obtain Gibbons’ help in stealing Montgomery’s technology so he

Trépp could continue receiving payments from plaintiff U.S. Government on the said defense contracts and -

- obtain new contracts. In turn, Congressman Gibbons contacted his friend Nevada U.S. Attorney Daniel

Bogden in an effort to get Bogden to put the resources and prestige of the Reno offices of the FBI and U.S.

_Attorney behind Trepp to go after Montgomery to steal Monfgomery’s technology. -

135.  Under the direction of Nevada U.S. Attomey Bogden, and based upon false and perjuréd ’

testimony of co-conspirators Haraldsen, Trepo, Venables and Gray, Special Agent West did. in fact, then

- illegaily raid Montgomery’s home and storage units in callous disregard of Montgomery’s Fourth

Amendment rights and in violation of the law, including but not limited to the Fourth Amendment, and
DOJ and FBI pohc1es and protocols mcludmg a DOJ policy set forth above. |

136.  As a direct and proximate result of Trepp, Gibbons, West, a.nd Venables and Gray S
violations of the False Claims Act, plaintiff U.S. Government has suffered and continues to suffer damages
in an amount to be determined at trial, but in excess of any jurisdictionai minimum of this Court. - -

137. - Plaintiff U.S. Government is  entitled to treble damages together with punitive damages of

'SIO .000 for each of the six false claims herein as prov1ded in31US.C.§ 3729(a).

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
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Conspiracy to Violate the False Claims. Act—.-\gamst All Defendants.

138. Plaintiffrealleges and mcorporates by reterence each allegation contamed in paragmphs one

. through 137 as though restated here in full.

139.  As set forth above, defendants Trepp and eTreppid, with the aid of their cc-conspirators,, :

v1olated the provisions of 31 U.S.C. § 3729 (a).

140. As set forth above, actmg in concert with each other to obtain plamtlffLl S. Governmentsaid -
defense contracts, to share in the proceeds of those contracts. to get plaintiff U.S. Government to pay on
the said contracts, and keep the said contracts flowing to Trepp and eTreppid, defendants Trepp, ¢Treppid,
Gib’bohs, Haraldsen, Venables, Gray agd others, did not disclose to .tlic government and concealed trom
the go,‘}emment the true nature of how the contracts were. procur'ed,v thgt Trepp and efccppid violat_ed the

said defense contracts’ express and implied certifications, laws, regulations, and statutes, pertaining to said

. contracts, and Trepp, Gibbons, Bogden, Bath, Haraldsen, West, Venables and Gray lied in order to illegally -

raid Montgomery’s home and storage units, and steal Montgomery’s valuable techno logy uced on plaiﬁti_ff
u.s. _GOvemﬁent said defense ccnt;acts to keep the said gicfensc contracts flowing to Trepp and eTrepid,
and each defendaht did “conspire to defrand the gbvemment by getting-é false claim allowed or paid” in
violation of 31 U.S.C. §3729 (2)3). | o |

' 141, As set forth above acting in concert with edch other to obtam the said plamtxtf US.

Government defense contracts to share in the procéeds of those contracts to get plaintiff U.S. Government
to pay on the sald contracts, and to keep the said contracts flowing to Trepp and eTreppld defendants
'Trepp, eTreppid, and Ascenna did not disclose to the government and concealed from the government the

true nature of how the contracts were procu:ed, what Trepp was doing with classified or confidential

v information obtained from the said defense contracts, including_ stock trading with said information, Trepp

and eTreppid violated express and implied certifications on the said contracts, as wells as laws, rules and

regulanons pertaining to said contracts, and each defendant did “conspire to detraud the oovemment by

gettmg a false claim allowed or paid” in v1olat10n of 31 U.S.C. §3729 (a)(3).

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY
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Plaintitf demands a trial by jury on all issues.

W

WHEREFORE Plaintiff respectfully requests this Court award the tollowmg rehet

(a)

4(e)' '

(H

1)

General damages in an amount to be proven at trial;

Treble damages pursuamny to 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a);

$10,000 for each viotution of § 3729;

An award of reasonable attorneys’ fees to the qui tam plaintiff, pursuant to 31 U.S.C. §
3730(d)(1), and amy other award, cost or fees qui tem plaintiff is entitled to by law;
An'award of costs pursﬁant_to 31 US.C. § 3730(d)(1); -

Rescission of any exisu’ng contract based on the defendants’ fraudulent inducéfn‘ent; and
Respectfully submitted,

Enic A. Pulver, Esq.

December_lZ, 2006
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